RECEIVED

JAN 11 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

Appellate Case No. 2018-001107

Daufuskie Island Utility Company, Inc.,

Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Office of Regulatory Staff,
Haig Point Club and Community Association, Inc.,
Melrose Property Owner's Association, Inc.,
Bloody Point Property Owner's Association, and
Beach Field Properties, LLC,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Thomas P. Gressette, Jr. (S.C. Bar #14065)
Email: Gressette@WGFLAW.com
G. Trenholm Walker (S.C. Bar #5777)
Email: Walker@WGFLAW.com
Walker Gressette Freeman & Linton, LLC
P.O. Box 22167, Charleston, SC 29413

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether this Court should reverse or modify the Public Service Commission Order on Rehearing because the Order's findings and conclusions that DIUC is not entitled to recover any of the \$542,978 in documented Rate Case Expenses of Guastella Associates were legally erroneous, arbitrary, unsupported by substantial evidence, and prejudiced substantial rights of DIUC.
- II. Whether this Court should reverse or modify the Public Service Commission Order on Rehearing because the Order's findings and conclusions excluding from rate base \$699,631 of used and useful Utility Plant in Service were legally erroneous, arbitrary, unsupported by substantial evidence, and prejudiced substantial rights of DIUC.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 9, 2015, Daufuskie Island Utility Company, Inc., the sole provider of water and sewer service to a service area that encompasses Daufuskie Island, Beaufort County, South Carolina ("DIUC"), applied to the Public Service Commission (the "Commission" or "PSC"), for approval of a new schedule of rates and charges for water and sewer service ("the Application"). (R. p. 158). The Application was filed pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. Section 58-5-240 and 10 S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 103-712.4.A and 103-512.4.A.

On July 23, 2015, the Haig Point Club and Community Association, Inc., Melrose Property Owner's Association, Inc., and Bloody Point Property Owner's Association, (collectively "Intervenors" or "POAs") filed a Petition to Intervene. (R. p. 231) On July 27, 2015, a Petition to Intervene was filed by Beach Field Properties, LLC ("Beach Field"), an owner of property within the DIUC service area. (R. p. 7 and p. 235) Both petitions were granted. The South Carolina Office of Regulatory Staff ("ORS") also appeared via counsel.

On October 28, 2015, the Commission conducted its hearing on DIUC's Application. On December 8, 2015, the Commissions entered an Order on the Application, but did not grant the relief requested by DIUC. Instead, the Commission adopted a "Settlement Agreement" proposed

by the Office of Regulatory Staff and Intervenors. DIUC filed a timely Petition for Reconsideration and/or Rehearing on December 21, 2015. (R. p. 286) By Order No. 2016-50 dated February 25, 2016, the Commission denied the Petition for Reconsideration and/or Rehearing. (R. p. 42) On March 22, 2016, DIUC served its Notice of Appeal of Order No. 2015-846 and Order No. 2016-50. (R. p. 322) The Office of the Clerk of the Supreme Court assigned the matter Appellate Case No. 2016-000652.

The Appeal was briefed and the parties presented oral argument on December 14, 2016. On July 26, 2017, the Court issued its Opinion reversing the Commission decision and remanding the matter for a new hearing. Daufuskie Island Util. Co., Inc. v. S.C. Off. of Reg. Staff, 420 S.C. 305, 803 S.E.2d 280 (2017). In its Opinion, the Supreme Court ruled Order 2015-846 “contained multiple adjustments which were entirely unsupported by the evidence presented to the Commission.” Id. at 316, 803 S.E.2d at 286. Accordingly, the Court reversed and remanded the matter “for a new hearing as to all issues.” Id. The issues referred to by the Court are Commission Order 2015-846’s adjustments to Property Taxes, Plant In Service, Bad Debts, Management Fees, and Rate Case Expenses. Id.

After remand to the Commission, the parties engaged in additional discovery then submitted prefiled rehearing testimony of their witnesses. The rehearing was convened on December 6, 2017. On December 20, 2017, the Commission issued a one-page order approving a \$950,166 rate increase, indicating that a full order would be issued at a subsequent time. (R. p. 91) On January 31, 2018, the Commission entered its decision, docketed as Order No. 2018-68 (“Order on Rehearing”). (R. p. 93) DIUC filed a timely Petition for Reconsideration and/or Rehearing on February 20, 2018, asserting that while the Order on Rehearing addressed many of the complex issues presented in this case and significantly reduced the outstanding questions, the Commission

erred in its downward adjustment to DIUC's proposed Rate Case Expenses, Rate Base/Utility Plant In Service, and Accumulated Depreciation/Depreciation Expense. (R. p. 542) By Order No. 2018-346 dated May 16, 2018, the Commission denied DIUC's Petition for Reconsideration and/or Rehearing. (R. p. 146)

On June 13, 2018, DIUC served its Notice of Appeal of Order No. 2018-68 and Order No. 2018-346 (collectively referred to herein as "Order 2018-68" and "Order on Rehearing"). (R. p. 568) The Office of the Clerk of the Supreme Court assigned this second appeal (the instant Appeal) Appellate Case No. 2018-001107.

As set forth herein, the issues raised by this Appeal are the Commission's decisions on rehearing related to whether the reliable, probative evidence in the record justifies the Commission's rejection of the evidence DIUC presented regarding its Rate Case Expenses and Rate Base/Utility Plant In Service. This Appeal seeks reversal of the Commission's Order on Rehearing because the Commission erred in excluding \$542,978 from DIUC's Rate Case Expenses and the Commission erred in removing \$699,631 from DIUC's Rate Base/Utility Plant In Service.¹

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Classified as a Class B water and wastewater utility under the Uniform System of Accounts published by the National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners ("NARUC"), DIUC provides water and sewer service to Daufuskie Island in Beaufort County, South Carolina. (R. p. 31).

On June 11, 2015, DIUC filed an application to the PSC for approval of a new schedule of rates and charges for water and sewer service ("the Application"). (R. pp. 158-230) DIUC's

¹ Although the Commission erred in calculating DIUC's depreciation and depreciation expenses, DIUC believes that correction of the depreciation issue can be addressed in a future rate application and, therefore, it is not included for the Court's consideration in the instant Appeal. (See R.p. 550)

Application included the following reasons for the requested increase in rates:

- DIUC's "current rates do not enable the Company to cover its cost of providing service and earn a fair return on its investment."
- The Company has not previously applied for rate relief since 2010.
- The proposed rates developed in the Application "are essential for the Daufuskie Island Utility Company to continue to provide its customers with adequate water and wastewater service."

(R. p. 159) The Application also reported that DIUC had not applied for rate relief since 2010 and that the proposed rates are essential for the company to continue to provide its customers adequate water and sewer service. (R. p. 159)

Upon receipt of the Application, the Commission's Clerk's Office instructed DIUC to publish a prepared Notice of Filing, one time, in newspapers of general circulation in the area affected by DIUC's Application. The Notice of Filing described the nature of the Application and advised all interested persons desiring to participate in the scheduled proceedings of the manner and time in which to file appropriate pleadings for inclusion in the proceedings as a party of record. (R. p. 158) The Commission also instructed DIUC to notify each affected customer. DIUC filed Affidavits of Publication and Mailing demonstrating that the Notice of Filing had been duly published and provided to all customers. (R. pp. 237-240)

On July 23, 2015, the Haig Point Club and Community Association, Inc., Melrose Property Owner's Association, Inc., and Bloody Point Property Owner's Association, (collectively "Intervenors" or "the POAs") filed a Petition to Intervene. (R. p. 231) On July 27, 2015, a Petition to Intervene was filed by Beach Field Properties, LLC ("Beach Field"), an owner of property within the DIUC service area. (R. p. 7, lines 235-236) Both petitions were granted.

Pursuant to Order No. 2015-586, a public hearing was set and noticed by the Commission, and the Company provided an affidavit certifying that it had provided notice of the date, time and

location of the local public hearing via publication in The Beaufort Gazette and The Island Packet. (R. pp. 7-8) On September 15, 2015, the Commission held a night hearing beginning at 6:00 pm at the Haig Point Club Clubhouse, 130 Clubhouse Lane, Daufuskie Island, South Carolina. (Id. at 2, fn.1)

A Commission hearing on the Application was scheduled for October 28, 2015. Prior to the hearing DIUC, ORS, and the Intervenors filed pre-filed testimony. Beach Field did not file any testimony. On the afternoon of October 27, 2015, the day before the scheduled Commission hearing, the Intervenors filed a document captioned “Settlement Agreement.” (R. p. 241) The only parties to the document submitted as a “Settlement Agreement” are ORS and the Intervenors. DIUC did not know about, did not consent to, and was not a party to the purported “Settlement Agreement.” (R. p. 242 and pp. 1315-16)

On October 28, 2015, the Commission, with Chairman Nikiya Hall presiding, convened a hearing on DIUC’s Application. After the hearing was called to order by Chairman Hall, counsel for the Intervenors asked to present a “preliminary matter” at which time he informed the Commission that the Intervenors and ORS had filed with the Commission a “settlement agreement.” (R. p. 1315)

The Settlement Agreement included the agreement between ORS and Intervenors on multiple adjustments to DIUC’s Application and specified what rate of return and operating margin ORS and the Intervenors had predetermined DIUC should be permitted. DIUC was not a party to the Settlement Agreement and the Agreement recommended that the Commission permit only thirty-nine percent of the revenue increase sought by DIUC’s Application. See Daufuskie, 420 S.C. at 313, 803 S.E.2d at 284. In fact, the Settlement Agreement endorsed an even lower revenue number than ORS originally proposed in response to the Application.

Prior to any testimony, DIUC objected to the admission of the Settlement Agreement, but the Commission overruled the objection and the hearing proceeded with testimony presented by DIUC, ORS, and the Intervenors.

On December 8, 2015, the Commission entered its decision, docketed as Order No. 2015-846, accepting the Settlement Agreement and making findings and conclusions that implemented the Settlement Agreement's 61% reduction to the increase sought by DIUC's Application. (R. pp. 158-230) DIUC filed a timely Petition for Reconsideration and/or Rehearing on December 21, 2015. (R. p. 286) By Order No. 2016-50 dated February 25, 2016, the Commission denied the Petition for Reconsideration and/or Rehearing. (R. p. 42) On March 22, 2016, DIUC served its Notice of Appeal of Order No. 2015-846 and Order No. 2016-50 (collectively referred to herein as "Order 2015-846"). (R. p. 322)

In its appeal DIUC asserted that by adopting the adjustments in the Settlement Agreement Order 2015-846 violated Commission Settlement Policies and Procedures because DIUC was not involved in the Settlement Agreement. DIUC also appealed the Commission's findings as to Property Taxes, Management Fees, Rate Case Expenses, Bad Debt, and Rate Base arguing the findings were not based upon the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence in the record. (R. pp. 2701-2727)

The Supreme Court heard oral argument on the appeal on December 14, 2016, and on July 26, 2017, issued its Opinion. The Court ruled for DIUC, reversed Commission Order 2015-846, and found:

[T]he Settlement Agreement did not resolve *any* issues between the parties, but rather was merely an agreement between the POAs and ORS not to object to one another's pre-filed testimony, and to accept ORS's recommendations and adjustments should the Commission adopt them. Furthermore, the Settlement Agreement contained multiple adjustments which were entirely unsupported by the evidence presented to the Commission. Therefore, we hold the Commission erred

in approving and adopting the Settlement Agreement and DIUC is entitled to a new hearing in which the parties may present any additional evidence.

Daufuskie, 420 S.C. at 315, 803 S.E.2d at 286.

The Court also explained, “While we are reversing and remanding for a new hearing as to all issues, in order to provide guidance to the Commission on remand, we address three allegations of error raised by DIUC in this appeal.” Id. The three adjustments addressed by the Court and its guidance concluded that:

1. The substantial evidence in the record supported inclusion of the Elevated Tank Site in Rate Base/Utility Plant In Service;
2. DIUC is entitled to rates sufficient to cover the tax obligations DIUC presented in its Application; and
3. The Commission’s decision to allow a bad debt expense of only \$30,852 was unsupported by the evidence in the record.

Although the Opinion did not individually analyze DIUC’s other appellate issues regarding the Commission’s decision disallowing \$699,631 additional items from DIUC’s rate base, reduction of the amount of management fees, and rejection of certain rate case expenses incurred by DIUC, the Court did state that in addition the three adjustments discussed specifically, Order 2015-846 “contained multiple adjustments which were entirely unsupported by the evidence presented to the Commission.” Daufuskie, 420 S.C. at 315, 803 S.E.2d at 286. Based on these findings, the Court reversed and remanded the matter “for a new hearing as to all issues.”² Id.

Following remand from this Court but prior to rehearing by the Commission, DIUC filed Applicant’s Proposal for Procedure Following Remand and Expedited Hearing. (R. p. 382) DIUC

² The Court also ruled that “remand to the Commission for a new hearing necessarily grants the parties the opportunity to present additional evidence” to be certain that upon rehearing the evidence is “indicative of the current economic realities on remand.” Daufuskie, 420 S.C. at 316, 803 S.E.2d at 286 fn. 8.

specifically requested an expedited hearing schedule be entered so that the matter could be concluded prior to December 31, 2017. (Id.) DIUC cited the high costs of the original proceeding and appeal as well as the mounting costs of the rate case following the appeal. (R. p. 387) DIUC asserted the parties had already participated in expensive and broad discovery before the initial hearing wherein DIUC was required to respond to in excess of 150 discovery requests (exclusive of multiple subparts), review the direct testimonies of nine witnesses, prepare rebuttal testimony and surrebuttal testimony, and prepare for the hearing on the Application. (Id.)

After hearing from the parties Standing Hearing Officer Butler issued Order 2017-61-H establishing a schedule for hearing and allowing a decision by the Commission prior to December 31, 2017. (R. p. 87)

After participating in additional discovery, the parties submitted prefiled testimony of their witnesses. A rehearing was convened on December 6, 2017, in the Commission Hearing Room located at 101 Executive Center Drive in Columbia, South Carolina. DIUC was represented by G. Trenholm Walker, Esquire, and Thomas P. Gressette, Jr., Esquire. The POAs were represented by John J. Pringle, Jr., Esquire and John F. Beach, Esquire. ORS was represented by Andrew M. Bateman, Esquire, and Jeff Nelson, Esquire.

DIUC presented the prefiled and summary testimony of John F. Guastella, President of Guastella Associates, LLC and Gary C. White, Vice President of Guastella Associates, LLC. The Intervenors presented prefiled and summary testimony of Charles Loy and Lynn M. Lanier. ORS presented prefiled and summary testimony of Dawn M. Hipp, a Director in the ORS Utility Rates and Services Department; Daniel F. Sullivan, Deputy Director of the ORS Audit Department; and Dr. Douglas H. Carlisle, Economist at ORS. The testimony of ORS witnesses Hipp and Sullivan was limited to certain matters and expressly relied upon the previous testimony of ORS witnesses

Ivana C. Gearheart and Willie J. Morgan, as provided in the original hearing.

Pursuant to motions by each party, all prefiled testimony was read into the record as if given orally. Prior to the December 6, 2017, rehearing, a Certified True Copy of the Transcript of Testimony and Proceedings with 6 Hearing Exhibits of the prior hearing in this matter (Hearing #15-11494, held on October 28, 2015) was filed in the docket. During the December 6, 2017, rehearing, the Transcript of Hearing #15-11494 (the first rate case hearing) was entered as Hearing Exhibit 2 and the parties referenced and relied upon evidence included therein.

The rehearing was recessed in the afternoon on December 6, 2017, reconvened on the morning of December 7, 2017, and then concluded in the afternoon on December 7, 2017. The parties were instructed to provide proposed orders to the Commission on or before December 15, 2017. DIUC submitted its proposed order on December 15, 2017. (R. p. 505)

On January 31, 2018, the Commission entered its decision, docketed as Order No. 2018-68 (“Order on Rehearing”). (R. p. 93) DIUC filed a timely Petition for Reconsideration and/or Rehearing on February 20, 2018. (R. p. 542) The Petition asserted that the Commission’s Order on Rehearing entered January 31, 2018, addressed many of the complex issues presented in this case and significantly reduced the outstanding questions. (Id.) However, DIUC asked the Commission to reconsider the Order on Rehearing’s limitations on DIUC’s Rate Case Expenses and Rate Base/Utility Plant In Service. (Id.) DIUC asserted the Commission’s disallowance of significant Rate Case Expense and its disallowance of unidentified used and useful assets in Rate Base/Utility Plant In Service are not based upon the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence in the record. Additionally, DIUC sought reconsideration asserting these rulings are contrary to the evidence and result in a punitive impact upon DIUC. DIUC requested the Commission reconsider its Order on Rehearing so that DIUC would be permitted the original 108.9% rate

increase sought by the Application. (R. pp. 563-64)

By Order No. 2018-346 dated May 16, 2018, the Commission denied DIUC's Petition for Reconsideration and/or Rehearing. (R. p. 146)

On June 13, 2018, DIUC served its Notice of Appeal of Order No. 2018-68 and Order No. 2018-346 (collectively referred to herein as "Order 2018-68" and "Order on Rehearing"). (R. p. 568)

DIUC now seeks this Court's review of the Commission's errors following remand from this Court. Those errors include rejecting DIUC's evidence of Rate Case Expenses and Rate Base/Utility Plant In Service. The Commission's decision on these two adjustments is not supported by the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record and constitute legal error. The Commission also relied upon errors of law impacting the procedure applied and it fails to provide sufficient findings to support its conclusions.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

South Carolina appellate courts employ a deferential standard of review when reviewing a decision of the Public Service Commission, but affirm a Commission decision only when substantial evidence supports it. Porter v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 333 S.C. 12, 21, 507 S.E.2d 328, 332 (1998). After completing review this Court "may affirm the decision of the agency or remand the case for further proceedings." S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380. The Court may also reverse or modify the decision of the Commission "if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions" are:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or

- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380.

The party challenging a Commission order “bears the burden of convincingly proving the decision is clearly erroneous, or arbitrary or capricious, or an abuse of discretion, in view of the substantial evidence on the whole record.” Duke Power Co. v. PSC of S.C., 343 S.C. 554, 558, 541 S.E.2d 250, 252 (2001) (citing Porter v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 333 S.C. 12, 507 S.E.2d 328 (1998) and S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(A)(6) (Supp. 1999)).

“Substantial evidence is not a mere scintilla; rather, it is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the same conclusion as the agency.” Chisolm v. S.C. Dept. of DMV, 402 S.C. 593, 609, 741 S.E.2d 42, 51 (Ct. App. 2013) (citing Friends of Earth v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of S.C., 387 S.C. 360, 366, 692 S.E.2d 910, 913 (2010)).

“A decision is arbitrary if it is without a rational basis, is based alone on one's will and not upon any course of reasoning and exercise of judgment, is made at pleasure, without adequate determining principles, or is governed by no fixed rules or standards.” Deese v. S.C. State Bd. of Dentistry, 286 S.C. 182, 184-5, 332 S.E.2d 539, 541 (Ct. App. 1985). “An abuse of discretion occurs where the trial court is controlled by an error of law or where the Court's order is based on factual conclusions without evidentiary support.” Smith v. S.C. Ret. System, 336 S.C. 505, 523, 520 S.E.2d 339, 349 (Ct. App. 1999).

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