RECEIVED

JAN 09 2019

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM  
THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF SOUTH CAROLINA

Docket No. 2014-346-WS  
Appellate Case No. 2018-001107

Daufuskie Island Utility Company, Inc., ..... Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Office of Regulatory Staff,  
Haig Point Club and Community Association, Inc.,  
Melrose Property Owner's Association, Inc., and  
Bloody Point Property Owner's Association, ..... Respondents,

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT  
SOUTH CAROLINA OFFICE OF REGULATORY STAFF**

Jeffrey M. Nelson  
Andrew M. Bateman  
**South Carolina Office of Regulatory Staff**  
1401 Main Street, Suite 900

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

## ARGUMENT

In its Order on Rehearing, the Commission properly analyzed the facts presented and issued a well-reasoned Order supported by the substantial evidence on the whole record. The Order on Rehearing results in a rate structure that is equivalent to approximately \$950,166 in additional revenues over what DIUC was charging customers prior to the Original Proceeding, and is sufficient to allow DIUC to meet the standards required by law, including the preservation of continued investment in and maintenance of utility facilities so as to provide reliable and high-quality utility services.<sup>25</sup>

The Order’s findings, inferences, conclusions, and decisions are based upon the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record, and allow DIUC the opportunity to earn a reasonable return. As a result, the Commission’s Order on Rehearing should be affirmed.

### **I. THE COMMISSION’S DECISION TO DEFER<sup>26</sup> DIUC’S ABILITY TO RECOVER ITS REQUESTED RATE CASE EXPENSES BY \$542,978 IS**

---

<sup>25</sup> See S.C. Code Ann. § 58-4-10 (as amended by Act No. 258, 2018 S.C. Acts \_\_\_, Section 8, effective date June 28, 2018).

<sup>26</sup> The Commission did not “disallow” DIUC Rate expenses totaling \$542,978, but rather deferred DIUC’s ability to recover these expenses until DIUC’s next rate case proceeding, provided DIUC could provide verifiable documentation corresponding to the Rate Case expenses. See Commission Order No. 2018-68, “[the Commission] will allow [DIUC] to request approval of [\$542,978 in Rate Case expenses] in its next rate case, if it can provide supporting information for its invoices that satisfy the criteria listed by ORS witness Hipp presented at the rehearing.”

**SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE ON THE WHOLE RECORD AND NOT ARBITRARY OR CAPRICIOUS.**

This Court has recognized, “the PSC may determine that some portion of an expense actually incurred by a utility should not be passed on to consumers.” Utils. Servs. of S.C. v. S.C. Office of Regulatory Staff, 392 S.C. at 105, 708 S.E.2d at 760 (2011). Additionally, as the trier of fact, the Commission is empowered with the authority to disallow certain expenditures a utility seeks. Id at 112, 763.

DIUC argues the Commission’s Order on Rehearing erred by prohibiting DIUC’s ability to recover a portion (\$542,978) of its Rate Case expenses in the current proceeding and compares the Commission’s decisions on Rate Case expenses in the Original Proceeding with that of the Rehearing.<sup>27</sup> (Appellant Second Initial Brief, p. 13)

Rate case expenses are expenses incurred to prepare the rate case and generally include administrative fees in the case preparation, attorney fees, and expert witness fees. “It is the duty and responsibility of the regulatory staff to when considered necessary by the Executive Director of the Office of Regulatory Staff and in the public interest, review, investigate, and *make appropriate recommendations* to the commission with respect to the rates charged or proposed to be charged by any public utility.” (Emphasis added). S.C. Code Ann. § 58-4-50(A)(1)(Supp. 2017).

---

<sup>27</sup> At the rehearing, DIUC requested \$794,210 for current and unamortized rate case expenses to be recovered over 3 years. (R. p. 1041, lines 15-17). The Commission Ordered that DIUC be able to recover rate case expenses totaling \$272,382 and that recovery be amortized over three years, which is the amortization period DIUC requested. (R. pp. 0130-0131). The \$272,382 in Rate Case expenses consists of three components: capped rate case expenses in the amount of \$75,000 for GA’s preparation of the Application, developing rate models, calculating test year data, and filing other rate case documents, \$22,500 in unamortized rate case expenses from a previous rate case, and legal expenses. (R. p. 1018, lines 8-14). The Commission’s Order deferred recovery of the additional requested Rate Case expenses until a subsequent rate case, thereby allowing DIUC the opportunity to recover any validly incurred and properly documented rate case expenses for which it lacked the proper documentation in this abbreviated proceeding. ORS would also note that granting excessive or unlimited rate case expenses eliminates any motivation for a utility to be conscientious of such costs.

In the Original Proceeding, ORS recommended that DIUC's current rate case expenses be limited to \$75,000 and amortized over five years. (R. p. 1769, line 22-p. 1770, line 5) (R. pp. 0029-0031) (R. pp. 0054-0055). This amount was arrived upon as a result of ORS's pursuit of a Settlement Agreement and because DIUC previously agreed to seek \$75,000 in Rate Case expenses in its most recently approved previous rate case; therefore, in ORS's judgment, \$75,000 appropriately represented DIUC's Rate Case expenses in the proceeding. (R. p. 1816, lines 12-23). ORS also recommended that the unamortized rate case expense from DIUC's previous rate case, \$22,500, be included with the same amortization period totaling \$97,500 in overall rate case expenses to be amortized over five years. (R. p. 1769, line 22-1770, line 5) (R. pp. 0029-0031) (R. pp. 0054-0055). ORS utilized its significant experience to formulate a recommendation of allowable rate case expenses that it deemed reasonable and in the public interest. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 58-4-10(B) and 58-4-50(A)(1) (2015). Inherent in ORS's recommendation was its judgment stemming from expertise and experience as the state of South Carolina's sole utility regulation investigatory agency.

In the Original Proceeding, the Commission adopted ORS's recommendation that DIUC be entitled to recover \$97,500 in rate case expenses. (R. pp. 0029-0031) (R. pp. 0054-0055).

Due to DIUC's requested expedited schedule, ORS did not re-evaluate all recommendations made in the Original Proceeding and instead focused on adopting and incorporating the Supreme Court Guidance and reviewing any new evidence presented by the Appellant. As witness Sullivan testified,

Due to the expedited schedule in this remand case, as requested by the company, ORS did not re-audit the books and records of the company for the rehearing nor did it investigate further the audit performed as part of Docket No. 2011-229-WS or revisit the audit performed by Ivana C. Gerhart as part of this docket.

(R. p. 1008, lines 9-15).

Additionally, witness Hipp stated,

The purpose of my rehearing testimony is to adopt the direct testimony and exhibits of Willie J. Morgan filed on October 2, 2015, and re-affirm the positions taken by ORS witness Morgan during the October 28, 2015, hearing with the exception of any changes made to comply with the South Carolina Supreme Court Opinion No. 27729, Supreme Court Order issued on November 15, 2017, or resulting from new evidence presented by Daufuskie Island Utility Company, Inc....

(R. p. 1040, lines 9-14).

POA witness Lanier testified that, “while the Commission may have some obligation to provide the Company the “opportunity” to earn specified return, it is not obligated to assure that the Company earn such returns, by granting any and all claimed expenses.” (R. p. 1709, lines 10-13) (See also R. p. 1729, line 22-p. 1730, line 7).

At the rehearing ORS testified regarding a number of adjustments to rate case expenses that were not contested by DIUC. (R. p. 0655, lines 1-7). The one rate case expense adjustment DIUC did contest at the rehearing was ORS’s adjustment of \$542,978, which corresponded to GA invoices. (R. p. 1044, line 11). According to ORS witness Hipp, GA invoices contained mathematical errors, lacked sufficient detail, and/or did not appear to be paid. (R. p. 1044, lines 11-18). ORS witness Hipp testified that when reviewing invoices, ORS checks for mathematical accuracy, whether the invoice is for a valid business purpose, whether the expense was incurred during the period under review, whether the invoice was properly recorded on the books and records of the Company, and whether the invoice was paid. *Id.* According to witness Hipp, ORS consistently has looked at those five principles. (R. p. 1067, lines 12-13). ORS testified that generally the GA invoices failed these criteria, and also offered specific examples. (R. p. 1044, lines 11-18) (R. pp. 2643-2647). During her testimony ORS witness Hipp specifically cited a number of invoices that were insufficient for reasons varying from lack of detailed description of work performed to mathematical errors. (R. pp. 2643-2647). Additionally, ORS witness Hipp

attached an exhibit detailing the problems with each invoice for which ORS recommended an adjustment. Id. Furthermore, ORS witness Hipp testified that on August 24, 2015, ORS discussed certain GA invoice deficiencies with Appellant. (R. p. 1054, line 22-p. 1055, line 3). Finally, ORS witness Hipp testified that it is not the role of ORS to support the rate case of a company seeking a rate increase, and it was DIUC that failed to provide additional support for the work performed by GA. (R. p. 1055, lines 4-10).

Recommending no recovery of \$542,978 in Rate Case expenses was the only possible avenue ORS could take in order to avoid an arbitrary recommendation. According to witness Hipp's testimony:

**Q:** Ms. Hipp, both, I believe, Mr. Gressette and Commissioner Fleming had asked you some questions regarding adjustments to the rate-case expenses of Guastella Associates. In particular, I think there was a discussion by Mr. Gressette of — is it \$540,000? Is that correct?

**A:** [HIPPI] Five hundred forty-two, nine hundred seventy eight [\$542,978].

**Q:** That's very specific. And ORS allowed zero of that; is that correct?

**A:** [HIPPI] That's correct.

**Q:** Is there a number in between zero and \$548,000 that ORS could just randomly pick?

**A:** [HIPPI] No.

**Q:** Something that would be approved? And why is that?

**A:** [HIPPI] It would be an *arbitrary* number. We're unable to verify that the invoices, you know, have a specific purpose or are used to provide ser- — that services are used to provide service to the customer, and the other items that I mentioned in my testimony.

(Emphasis added) (R. p. 1099, line 16-p. 1100, line 10).

Accordingly, it would have been random and arbitrary for ORS to recommend that the Commission allow recovery of *any* of the \$542,978, because DIUC failed to provide corresponding verifiable documentation for that amount in total.

The evidence shows that DIUC's \$542,978 in Rate Case expenses lacks verifiable documentation. It cannot be the responsibility of the regulating agency, nor the Commission, to arbitrarily determine a value for services where one cannot be independently verified. It would have been improper for the Commission to allow DIUC recovery of the \$542,978 in unverified expenses, and the Commission's decision to defer DIUC's ability to recover \$542,978 of Rate Case Expenses is supported by a rational basis and the substantial evidence on the whole record and is not arbitrary or capricious. Therefore, ORS respectfully submits that the Commission's decision to defer DIUC's ability to recover \$542,978 in Rate Case expenses is supported by substantial evidence and asks the Court to affirm the Commission's Orders.

- A. The Commission properly applied a presumption of reasonableness to DIUC's request for recovery of Rate Case expenses.

In Utils. Servs. of S.C., the Court stated the following with respect to the presumption and burden to be applied to a utility's expenditures:

Utility is correct that it was entitled to a presumption that its expenditures were reasonable and incurred in good faith, and therefore, a showing that its expenses had increased since its last rate case could satisfy its burden of proof. Nevertheless, the presumption in a utility's favor clearly does not foreclose scrutiny and a challenge. In those circumstances, the burden remains on the utility to demonstrate the reasonableness of its costs. It seems to us that Utility wants the presumption of reasonableness to be dispositive. In Hamm, 309 S.C. at 286-87, 422 S.E.2d at 112-13, we stated: Although the burden of proof of the reasonableness of all costs incurred which enter into a rate increase request rests with the utility, the utility's expenses are presumed to be reasonable and incurred in good faith. This presumption does not shift the burden of persuasion but shifts the burden of production on to the Commission or other contesting party to demonstrate a tenable basis for raising the specter

of imprudence. This evidence may be provided . . . through the Commission's broad investigatory powers. The ultimate burden of showing every reasonable effort to minimize . . . costs remains on the utility.

Utils. Servs. of S.C. v. S.C. Office of Regulatory Staff, 392 S.C. 96, 109-10, 708 S.E.2d 755, 762-63 (2011) (citing Hamm v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 309 S.C. 282, 286-287, 422 S.E.2d 110, 112-113 (1992)).

“If an investigation initiated by ORS or by the PSC yields evidence that overcomes the presumption of reasonableness, a utility must further substantiate its claimed expenditures.” Utils. Servs. of S.C., 392 S.C. at 110, 708 S.E.2d at 763.

A presumption of reasonableness, therefore, applies to expenses for which a utility seeks recovery from ratepayers until another party demonstrates a “tenable basis for raising the specter of imprudence.” Utils. Servs. of S.C. v. S.C. Office of Regulatory Staff, 109-110, 762-63. Once this occurs, the burden is on the utility to show that it made every reasonable effort to minimize costs and substantiate its claimed expenses. Id.

DIUC seemingly asserts that because GA provided DIUC with services, it is entitled to recover \$542,978 in additional Rate Case expenses. (Appellant Second Initial Brief, pp. 21-22). The position that DIUC would have the Court take would essentially foreclose Commission scrutiny of the expenses for which DIUC seeks recovery. While DIUC may be entitled to the presumption that its expenditures were reasonable and incurred in good faith, that presumption does not foreclose a challenge by ORS or other parties or the scrutiny of the Commission. See Utils. Servs. of S.C. v. S.C. Office of Regulatory Staff, 392 S.C. 96, 109, 708 S.E.2d 755, 762 (2011).

Through its direct testimony, ORS demonstrated a tenable basis for “raising the specter of imprudence.”<sup>28</sup> Utils. Servs. of S.C., 392 S.C. at 110, 708 S.E.2d at 763. Once ORS raised the specter of imprudence and challenged the ability of DIUC to recover the \$542,978 in Rate Case expenses at the rehearing, DIUC was obligated to substantiate its claimed expenses, which it failed to do by not furnishing sufficient verifying documentation for the \$542,978 in Rate Case expenses.

As the state regulator charged with representing the public interest and making appropriate recommendations to the Commission with respect to the rates charged any public utility, ORS must be able to verify what the utility paid, which are allowed recovery through rates, before it recommends recovery to the Commission. Likewise, the Commission must be able to account for every dollar of expenses paid by the utility, which are then allowed recovery in rates, with verifiable documentation. As set forth in Rehearing Exhibit 10, ORS witness Hipp outlined the invoice deficiencies that demonstrate why certain invoices were found not to be known and measurable.<sup>29</sup> (R. pp. 2643-2647).

In considering the evidence, the Commission did not find that DIUC overcame the challenges to the reasonableness of its expenses. According to the Commission,

“[t]he evidence shows that a large sum of what DIUC seeks was based on invoices that could not be verified. It is the responsibility of the regulated utility—not the

---

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